1 2		TEMPLE BETH DAVID JEWISH CENTER, INC. CONSTITUTION AND BYLAWS		
3 4				
5	ARTICLE 1 -	ARTICLE 1 - NAME AND PURPOSE		
6 7	Name:	The name of this organization shall be Temple Beth David Jewish Center, Inc. hereinafter referred to as TBD.		
8 9 10	Purpose:	Its purpose shall be		
11 12		 To establish and maintain a focal point of Jewish identity in Hernando County, Florida, and surrounding area. 		
13 14		2. To provide Reform religious services for the Jewish community.		
15 16 17		3. To promote and encourage Judaism and Jewish interaction.		
18 19	9 ARTICLE II - <u>MEMBERSHIP</u>			
20 21 22	A. Eligibility: To be a member of TBD a person must fulfill at least one of the following criteria:			
23 24 25	1. Be Jewish by matrilineal or patrilineal descent or a convert to Judaism.			
25 26 27	2. Be a Jewish individual and his/her spouse/companion.			
27 28 29	3. Be part of a family with at least one Jewish family member.			
30 31	4. Be a parent, grandparent, great-grandparent or legal guardian of a child.			
32 33 34	5. Be a faith	in individual who desires to raise his or her Jewish children in the Jewish		
35 36 37 38 39	com eligi	he event of the loss of a Jewish or non-Jewish member's spouse or panion through death, divorce or separation, the surviving or remaining ble spouse or companion shall continue to be eligible to continue nbership.		
40 41 42 43 44 45	Commi review,	plications for membership shall be made in writing to the Membership ttee and reviewed by the President and Financial Officers. Following this applicants shall be presented to TBD's Board of Directors (hereinafter d to as the Board) for appropriate action.		

- A majority vote of the members present at a regular or special meeting of the
 Board shall be required to elect an applicant to membership. An applicant denied
 membership may appeal the decision to the Congregation at the next regularly
 scheduled Congregation meeting.
 - C. There shall be two categories of members: Regular and Honorary.
 - 1. REGULAR MEMBERS shall be responsible for all dues and assessments as outlined in Article III.
 - 2. HONORARY MEMBERS may not vote nor hold any elective office. The Rabbi and the Rabbi's immediate family and the Rabbi Emeritus and spouse shall be considered honorary members.
 - D. Membership Financial Obligations

- Members shall be required to pay annual dues, assessments and other fees as determined by the Board and approved at a Congregation meeting, as per Article III, (C) Meetings, by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the votes. As the fiscal year shall be from July 1 to June 30, all financial obligations are due by June 30.
- 2. A member who fails to satisfy agreed upon financial obligations due TBD by the end of each fiscal quarter of the fiscal year may be denied all membership rights and privileges only after personal contact through telephone, regular mail, electronic mail or in person. The member will be notified by electronic mail and/or certified mail sent to the last known address provided to TBD.
- 3. The President, or the Financial Officers may be petitioned by a member to modify any financial obligation, exclusive of building fund and Bar/Bat Mitzvah obligations on an annual basis.
- 4. New members may join TBD at any time on a prorate charge of annual dues and building fund at time of application.
- 5. A former member wishing to be reinstated may accomplish this by paying the current year's dues and outstanding building fund obligation.
- 6. Regular members, on a seasonal basis, may join TBD by payment of a prorata charge of annual dues and building fund at time of application.
- E. Within the first two years of membership new members shall be encouraged to serve on a committee of their choice.

90 ARTICLE III - MEETINGS

A. Congregation meetings shall be held the first Wednesday of October, February and

- April of each year. If necessary, the President shall set an alternative date for the meeting.
- 95 B. Special meetings may be held at the Temple or virtual as designated in advance.
- C. Twenty-five percent (25%) of the membership in good standing is required to conduct business. If there is not Twenty-five percent (25%) of the membership in good standing, the President with reasonable time and notice, shall call another such meeting, pursuant to this Constitution and Bylaws. If there is not Twenty-five percent (25%) of the membership in good standing at the second meeting, the membership present shall transact the business, which would have come before said meetings.
- D. All meetings shall follow the Constitution and By-Laws. Subjects not covered herein
 are to be guided by Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised and by the
 Parliamentarian.
- 108 E. The President may call special meetings.
 - 1. A special meeting requested by a congregant shall be scheduled at the written petition of fifteen (15) members of the Congregation.
 - 2. On the call of the President, a special Congregation meeting may be held, provided a seven (7) calendar day written or electronic notice has been given to members.
 - F. One more than fifty percent (50%) of the Board of Directors is required to conduct Board of Directors' business.
- 119 G. Other than the election of officers and as otherwise provided herein, all methods of 120 voting shall be at the discretion of the President.
- 123 ARTICLE IV NOMINATION AND ELECTION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS
- A. The elected officers of TBD shall be: President, or co-Presidents First Vice- President,
 Second Vice-President, Recording Secretary, Financial Secretary and Treasurer.
- 128 1. To provide for leadership continuity the President, Co-President and First Vice 129 President shall be elected in alternating years.
 - 2 To provide for leadership continuity the Financial Secretary and Treasurer shall serve a term of three (3) years and be elected in different years.
 - 3. To implement items IV A1 and A2, the First Vice President or whichever Vice President has severed the shortest time in the position, and Treasurer shall have one year added to their term of office.

94

96

103

107

109

110

111 112 113

114 115 116

117 118

121 122

124

127

130 131

132

133 134

135

Page 3 of 20

B. Ten (10) Directors shall be elected for terms of two (2) years and shall serve as Chairpersons of the following standing committees: Membership, Fund Raising, Building and Grounds, Budget and Finance, Ritual, Education, Public Relations, Caring, Cultural arts, and Strategic Planning.

142

143

144

145

146 147

155 156

157

158

159 160

161 162

163 164

165

166

167

168 169 170

171 172

173

174

175 176 177

178 179

- The Ritual, Building and Grounds, Education, Membership and Strategic Planning Directors shall be elected in even numbered years and the Fund Raising, Budget and Financing, Public Relations, Caring and Cultural Arts Directors shall be elected in odd numbered years.
- C. With the exception of Treasure and Financial Secretary who serve three years (3), Each elected or appointed official and Directors shall serve for a period of two (2) years. No one shall serve more than two (2) consecutive terms in the same position. A midterm appointed official shall finish the term for the position he/she were appointed and after may serve two full elected terms in the position. In extraordinary circumstances, this provision may be waived by the Board of Directors but, must adhere to Article IV A Sections 1 and 2.
 - 1. No family members may serve on the Board of Directors or run for office simultaneously. If, after due diligence (refer to definition section of Policy and Procedures Manual), and the absence of any petitioners, the family member provision may be waived by the Board of Directors.
 - 2. A candidate for election to the Board of Directors shall be a member in good standing.
 - 3. All elected Officers and Directors shall take office at the beginning of the applicable fiscal year.
 - 4. Existing terms of office shall not be affected by a revision of the Constitution or by Constitutional amendments unless specifically mentioned.
 - 5. Candidates for the Offices of President, or co-Presidents and First Vice President shall have served at least one (1) year as an elected member of the Board of Directors.
 - 6. The President, co-Presidents, Vice Presidents, Ritual Director and Education Director shall be of the Jewish faith.
 - 7. Candidates may be elected when not in attendance during the elections meeting provided the candidates have informed the Nominating Committee, in writing, of the candidate's willingness to serve.
- The President, or co-Presidents shall, at the October Congregation meeting,
 appoint a Nominating Committee Chairperson. The Chairperson shall select the
 remaining four (4) members of the Committee. Only one member may be on the

184	Board of Directors. The Board of Directors shall be notified of the selection of the
185	Committee at the January meeting.
186	
187	 The Chairperson shall notify the Congregation of available Board positions
188	by electronic mail, newsletter and/or alternative means within the Temple.
189	 b. No member of the Committee may run for office.
190	 Members of the Committee may not resign to run for any office.
191	d. The Nominating Committee shall notify the Congregation by electronic mail,
192	newsletter and/or alternative means of the slate of candidates at least thirty
193	(30) days prior to the April Congregation meeting.
194	e. If, after due diligence, the Committee cannot fill a position and there are ro
195	candidates, then Article IV, Section C 1 shall not be in effect.
196	f. Members of the Committee shall designate the position for which each
197	candidate has been nominated.
198	
199	There shall be no nominations from the floor.
200	
201	10. There shall be an Election Committee consisting of five (5) Congregation
202	members in good standing who are not Board members. The President, or co-
203	Presidents shall appoint the Chairperson. The Committee Chairperson shall
204	select the otherfour members. In addition, a Financial Officer and the Recording
205	Secretary shall be ex-officio members. This Committee shall prepare the ballots
206	and supervise the elections.
207	D. Elections shall be the first order of business at the April Consumption resulting
208	D. Elections shall be the first order of business at the April Congregation meeting.
209	1 Victing shall be by closed bellet if there are contested positions
210	1. Voting shall be by closed ballot if there are contested positions.
211 212	2. A candidate for election in contested positions may address the Congregation for
212	a period of time not to exceed five (5) minutes regarding his/hergualifications.
213 214	a period of time not to exceed five (3) minutes regarding his/her qualifications.
214	E. Balloting procedures:
215	E. Dalioting procedures.
210	1. The candidates for all positions shall be listed in alphabetical order, by position.
217	
218	2. The Election Committee shall maintain a log for the control of absentee ballots. It
21)	shall include a control number, the name of the member requesting a ballot, the
220	date the request was received, the date the ballot was issued and the name of the
222	Committee member issuing the ballot.
223	
224	a. The names of the members provided with absentee ballots shall be noted on the
225	voter registration lists. Persons who have been provided with absentee ballots
226	shall not receive ballots at the election meeting should they attend.
227	b. Absentee votes shall be valid for the election of Officers and Director. A member
228	entitled to vote who expects to be absent on Election Day may request an
229	absentee ballot from the Election Committee at least fourteen (14) days before

230 231 232 233 234 225		the election. The ballot must be completed and returned to TBD, to the attention of the Election Committee, at least seven (7) days before the election.c. Although absentee ballots shall be provided in person, by regular mail, or electronic mail, the responsibility for timely receipt and return to the Election Committee shall rest with the voter.
235 236 237 238		3. The above balloting procedures shall be followed for all TBD voting processes allowing absentee ballots.
239 240		4. Proxy votes shall not be accepted.
241 242 243 244 245 246 247		Only members in good standing may vote. A member in good standing is defined as a member who is current in the payment of annual dues, assessments and other fees as determined in Article II (Membership), Sec. D1; or who has made a special arrangement to modify any financial obligations with the President or co-Presidents and Financial Officers.
248	ARTI	CLE V - DUTIES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
249 250	Δ	The Board shall have the responsibility to:
250 251 252	A.	 enforce all articles of the Constitution;
252 253 254		2. undertake and follow sound fiduciary practices;
255 256		3. pay attention to and consider needs of the Congregation;
257 258		4. set reasonable goals;
259 260 261		5. provide a strong organizational structure that includes sound management practices; and
262 263		6. plan for the future.
264 265 266 267	Β.	The Executive Board, which is comprised of the elected officers, is subordinate to the Board of Directors. Minutes shall be kept of all Executive Board Meetings and provided to the Board of Directors for review and discussion.
267 268 269 270	C.	The President or co-Presidents shall serve as administrative officer(s) and shall have the responsibility to:
271 272		1. Preside at all Board of Director, Executive Board, Congregation and Special Meetings
273 274 275		2. Appoint all special committees

- 3. The First Vice-President shall preside at meetings in the absence of the President or co-Presidents and assist the President or co-Presidents as so directed.
- D. The Second Vice-President shall preside at meetings in the absence of the President or co-Presidents and First Vice-President and perform other duties as directed by the President or co-Presidents.
- E. The Recording Secretary shall serve on the Board of Directors, Executive Board and at Congregation meetings, read the minutes of previous meetings, and record the proceedings of the meetings; record the election results, maintain and keep up-to-date the Policy and Procedures Manual.
- F. The Financial Secretary shall make deposits, keep records of dues, Capital Fund and other obligations, mail statements and assist the Treasurer. The Financial Secretary is a financial officer.
 - G. The Treasurer shall maintain records of all TBD funds, give monthly reports at Congregation and Board meetings, disperse monies owed and assist the Financial Secretary. The Treasurer is a financial officer.
- H. Each Director, in the capacity of Chairperson of a standing committee, shall have the following duties and responsibilities:
 - 1. To appoint members of the Congregation to the respective committee and select an Assistant Director for continuity.
 - a. Each committee or sub-committee shall have an odd number of members, including the Director. A maximum of one-third (1/3) of the committee members may be members of the Board. The remaining members shall be from the general membership.
 - b. Existing committees shall be grand fathered. Vacancies will be filled according to the constitution.
 - c. If, after due diligence, the Director cannot fill the committee, the previous section shall not be in effect.
 - 2. To appoint Chairpersons of sub-committees.

- 3. To schedule meetings as prescribed by the Board of Directors or by the Constitution and By-Laws.
 - 4. To supervise the activities of the committees and sub-committees. To bring to the Board of Directors for consideration all reports and recommendations, in writing, of his/her committee or sub-committee.
- 5. To advise the President or co-presidents and assigned Vice-President of the time
 and place of each committee meeting at least 5 days in advance.

- 322 6 To submit a written annual report to the Board of Directors at its May meeting and 323 submit a report to the Congregational meeting. 324 325
 - I. The President, or co-Presidents, First Vice President and Treasurer are the only officers authorized to sign legal documents (i.e., mortgages, deeds, contracts, checks, bonds, vouchers) and other financial instruments.
 - J. The President shall be an ex-officio member of all committees.
- K. The President or co-Presidents shall assign areas of committee responsibility to the 332 First and Second Vice Presidents. They shall be ex-officio, non-voting members of 333 their assigned committees. 334
- L. The Board of Directors shall meet monthly. At the November Board of Directors 336 meeting each Director shall submit to the Budget and Finance Committee his/her 337 respective committee's proposed budget for the upcoming fiscal year, following the 338 guidelines set down by the Budget and Finance Committee. 339
- M. At the regular or special Board of Directors meeting during the month of December, the Budget and Finance Committee shall present the proposed budget for the 342 incoming fiscal year for Board of Director approval. 343
 - N. A committee may not exceed any budgeted item. Any further expenditure must have approval in advance from the Board of Directors, after receiving a recommendation from the Budget and Finance Committee, at a regular meeting or a special meeting called for that purpose.
 - O. In the event of an emergency, upon approval of the President, or co-Presidents any budgeted item may be exceeded by the amount necessary. However, at the next regular meeting of the Congregation, the Congregation must be informed as to the reason for the expenditure and the full amount expended
- 354 355 356

359

360

361 362

363 364

365

326

327

328 329

330 331

335

340 341

344

345

346

347 348

349 350

351

352

353

ARTICLE VI - BOARD OF DIRECTORS

- A. The Board of Directors shall consist of: The Executive Board, elected officers of the Congregation, (See Article IV, A) and Article V, B) and the ten (10) Directors (See Article IV. B).
 - B. The immediate Past President or co-Presidents unless he or she resigned or was removed from office.
 - C. The Presidents of the Brotherhood and Sisterhood, or their single designees shall be voting members, as long as these entities are operational (i.e., have meetings, collect dues, and participate in Temple activities as a group).
- 366 D. The Parliamentarian shall be an ex-officio member appointed by the President, or co-Presidents. 367

368 369	
370 371	ARTICLE VII - BROTHERHOOD AND SISTERHOOD
372 373 374	A. The Brotherhood and Sisterhood shall have all facilities of the Temple available to them for meetings and other activities provided such functions are previously scheduled.
374 375 376	 B. Presidents of Brotherhood and Sisterhood shall be responsible for funds associated with each group.
377 378 379	C. Brotherhood and Sisterhood shall submit annual written reports to the Board of Directors at its May meeting, to include a summary of activities and a full accounting of all financial matters.
380 381	D. Functional operations of Brotherhood and Sisterhood shall be the same.
382 383	ARTICLE VIII - AGENDA FOR REGULARLY SCHEDULED CONGREGATION
384	MEETINGS
385	
386	The need for a meeting shall be determined by the Temple's President, or co-Presidents in
387	the absence of the President the first Vice President may determine the need for a meeting.
388	With the exception of an emergency, notification of the meeting shall be provided to members
389	no later than seven (7) days in advance.
390 391 392	A. Determine if a quorum () is present.
392 393 394	B. A Prayer
395 396	C. Reading and approval of minutes of the previous meeting
397 398	D. Report of Treasurer
399 400	E. Report of President or co-Presidents
401 402	F. Report of Financial Secretary
403 404	G. Reports of Brotherhood and Sisterhood
405 406	H. Reports of Directors, including their respective sub-committees
407 408	I. Reports of Special Committees
409 410	J. Congregation Participation
410 411 412	K. Continuation of Old Business
413	L. New Business

- 415 M. Good and Welfare
- 417 N. Adjournment

420 ARTICLE IX - RESIGNATION AND REMOVAL OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

- A. Any Officer or Director elected by the Congregation may resign at any time by
 giving written notice to the Board of Directors, the President, or co-Presidents, or
 Recording Secretary. Any such resignation shall take effect at the time specified
 therein, or if time is not specified, upon its acceptance by the Board of Directors.
 - B. If a sitting President, or co-Presidents resigns or is removed before his/her term of office expires, then that person shall not assume the title of immediate Past President or co-Presidents.
 - 1. Any Board of Directors member who resigns may not be appointed to another position on the Board of Directors during his or her original term of office; however, a transfer into a vacant position is permissible.
 - A Board of Directors member who is not in compliance with Article II, Section D2 must become compliant within 30 days of discovery or be removed from office.
 - C. Removal procedure:
 - Any member of the Board of Directors may be removed for willful violation of the Constitution and By-Laws or for conduct prejudicial to the best interest of TBD. Charges shall be made in writing, signed by five members of the Congregation and shall be presented to the Board of Directors.
 - 2. Within seven (7) days after receiving the charges, the highest-ranking officer not involved in the charge shall appoint a committee of five TBD members to review the charges. If the committee, by a majority vote, decides that the charges have merit, the Board of Directors shall send a copy of the charges to the person in question via certified mail with return receipt requested.
 - 3. The committee shall hear the complaint(s) and permit the person(s) in question, in person or through representatives, to cross-examine the complainants and to bring his or her own testimony. The committee shall report its findings to the Board of Directors, and if its report states that there is merit to the charges, a special meeting of TBD shall be called.
- 458 4. The Board of Directors may suspend the person(s) from the office in question, 459 by a majority vote of its' members. A majority of the members present and

- 460 voting, by written ballot, at the meeting of TBD shall be required to remove the 461 person(s) from office.
- D. Any member of the Board of Directors absent from three consecutive Board of
 Directors meetings without a granted leave may be removed from the Board of
 Directors upon a majority vote of all other Board of Directors members.
- 467 E. At the discretion of the President, or co-Presidents a leave of absence may be 468 granted to a Board of Directors member.
- 469 470

466

471 ARTICLE X - VACANCIES IN OFFICE

472

478

479

480 481 482

483

484 485

486

487

- A. In the event of a vacancy of an elected position the President, or co-Presidents with the approval of the Board of Directors, shall appoint a member of the Congregation to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the term in accordance with Article IV, 3. Those filling the position can run for an additional two terms of the office they are filling.
 - B. In the event of a vacancy in the office of President or co-Presidents, the First Vice President shall assume the office of President.
 - C. In the event the vacancy is in the office of First Vice President, the Second Vice President shall assume the office of First Vice President and the President, or co-Presidents will appoint a person to replace the second vice president
 - D. In the event that these above-mentioned officers resign, an emergency meeting of the Congregation shall be called.
- 488 489

496

498 499

500 501 502

503 504

490 ARTICLE XI - DIRECTORS

- 491
 492 The Directors are for: Ritual, Education, Fund Raising, Membership, Budget & Finance,
 493 Building & Grounds, Caring, Public Relations and Marketing, Strategic Planning, and
 494 Cultural Arts. Directors shall appoint an Assistant Directors at the first committees meeting
 495 who will take on their duties if needed.
- 497 A. The Ritual Director shall:
 - 1. Appoint and chair the Ritual Committee and select an Assistant Director to fill the position in the absence of the Director.
 - 2. Be responsible for all religious services, subject to the approval of the Rabbi,
 - a. formulate rules and regulations for all such services, subject to the approval of the Rabbi,

- b. work in conjunction with the Rabbi regarding ritual policies,
- c. oversee Yahrzeits, Scroll of Remembrance and the Choir (if applicable),
- Bring to the Board of Directors attention all matters relating to the engagement of religious personnel, including contract information, with input from the Ritual Committee;
 - 4. Be responsible for providing ushers for High Holy Day religious services;
 - 5. Present to the Board of Directors any proposals for major changes in TBD ritual with input from the Ritual Committee;
 - Conduct a semiannual review of the Rabbi, along with the President, or co-Presidents and one (1) member of the Ritual Committee (November/December and May/June);
 - 7. With input from the Ritual Committee, make a recommendation to the Board of Directors as to the Rabbi's contract renewal at least six (6) months prior to the completion of the Rabbi's contract;
 - 8. In conjunction with the administration and the Rabbi, be responsible for the arrangement of honors at all religious services, including High Holy Day Services;
 - 9. Serve as chairperson or appoint a designee for the Rabbinic Search Committee. The Rabbinic Search Committee will have a membership comprised of the Ritual Director, fifty percent (50%) from the Ritual Committee and fifty percent (50%) from the general Congregation.
- B. The Education Director shall:

- 1. Appoint and chair an Education Committee and select an Assistant Director to fill the position in the absence of the Director.
 - a. The Education Committee shall have a minimum of 5 members, no more than half of the committee membership shall be directly affiliated with the religious school (i.e., teachers, aides, assistants, etc.). In addition, there should be at least one relative (i.e., parent, grandparent or great grandparent) of a current religious school child and one a recent graduate of Religious School between the age of 14-20.
- 2. Appoint the principal of the Religious School
 - a. The principal of the Religious School shall supervise the Religious School, with input from the Education Committee
- 3. With input from the Education Committee, outline school policy and regulations, subject to final approval of the Board of Directors,

550 4. With the assistance of the religious school principal, fulfill staffing requirements, 551 552 5. Supervise the school's expenditures in accordance with the approved budget, 553 554 555 6. With input from the Education Committee and the principal of the Religious School, aid in the preparation of stud curricula, 556 557 7. With input from the Religious School principal, and teachers select textbooks and 558 other materials and supplies needed for implementation of the school curricula, 559 560 561 Maintain liaison with other committees to integrate the school into the total program of TBD. 562 563 9. Be responsible for arrangements for Bar and Bat Mitzvot. 564 565 10. Appoint and oversee an Adult Education Sub Committee 566 a. Appoint the chair of the Adult Education subcommittee, in consultation with 567 the Rabbi, establish classes addressing all areas of Jewish life; spread 568 Jewish knowledge among congregants by means of study groups, lectures, 569 symposia, pamphlets, etc., cooperate with other Temples or Synagogues 570 and organizations sponsoring adult education programs, create, maintain 571 and promote educational programs for adults. 572 573 11. Oversee the Temple's Youth Group if applicable. Appoint an adult Youth Group 574 leader if a youth group exists. 575 576 C. The Fund-Raising Director shall: 577 578 1. Appoint and chair a Fund-Raising Committee, and select an Assistant Director to fill the positron in the absence of the Director. 579 580 2 With input from the Fund-Raising Committee, recommend to the Board of Directors 581 582 ways and means of raising funds other than dues and assessments, 583 584 3. Appoint and oversee the Gift Shop manager and subcommittee. 585 586 D. The Membership Director shall: 1. Appoint and chair a Membership Committee, and select an Assistant Director to fill 587 the position in the absence of the Director. 588 589 2. With assistance of the Membership Committee, plan and develop programs to 590 increase and retain TBD membership, seeking and encouraging the affiliation of 591 592 non-affiliated Jewish residents from the Nature Coast. 593

594 595 596		3. Advise the President, or co-Presidents and Board of Directors of specific aptitudes and interests of members who may serve on committees fitting their interests,
597 598		4. With assistance of the Membership Committee, seek means of involving members who do not participate in TBD activities,
599 600 601 602 603		5. Receive and process applications for membership and present them to the Membership Committee and Board of Directors for appropriate action, as per Article II (B) Membership.
604 605	E.	The Budget and Finance Director shall:
606 607 608		1. Appoint and chair a Budget and Finance Committee, consisting of TBD's financial officers.
609 610 611		2. With input from Temple Committee Directors, create and submit a proposed budget to the Board of Directors for approval t by their February meeting,
612 613 614 615		 3. By the February/March Congregation meeting submit the Board of Directors approved budget for action. a. The Congregation shall receive copies of the proposed budget at least seven (7) days in advance of the meeting,
616 617 618 619 620		4. Present to the Board of Directors at any time of the year any new needs exceeding five hundred dollars (\$500) not covered by the approved budget, with recommendations for meeting them,
621 622		5. Annually review the method by which dues are determined, paid, and make recommendations to the Board of Directors.
623 624		6. Evaluate strategies to enhance the Temple's finances. Including but not limited to bids, loans, insurance, investments, mortgage and other banking requirements.
625	F.	The Building and Grounds Director shall:
626 627 628		1. Appoint and chair a Building and Grounds Committee, and select an Assistant Director to fill the position in the absence of the Director.
629 630		2. Provide for the regular maintenance and upkeep of TBD premises.
631 632		3. Supervise the work of the maintenance providers.
633 634 635		4. Obtain and present to the Board of Directors estimates for any repairs and improvements to TBD premises and upon approval of the Board, bid contracts for and oversee the execution and completion of such work.
636 637		5. Present to the Board of Directors for approval, a scale of charges for the use of

638 639		TBD premises.
640 641 642 643	6.	Maintain an up-to-date inventory of paper goods and serving materials in the kitchen, including the ordering of such materials as and when necessary, and oversee the orderliness and cleanliness of the kitchen.
644 645 646		Appoint and oversee the following sub-committees: Landscape, Design/Beautification, Cooking, Kitchen Clean-up and Security.
647 648	G.	The Caring Director shall:
649 650 651	1.	Appoint and chair a Caring Committee, and appoint an Assistant Director to fill the position in the absence of the Director.
652 653	2.	Appoint and oversee the following sub-committees: Caring, Calling, Cards, and Bereavement
655 655 656 657 658		a. Appoint the chair of the Caring subcommittee, which shall bring cheer to any ailing member, whether at home or in the hospital; pay condolence calls.b. Assist the Rabbi with calls as needed; provide outreach to others of Jewish faith in the community who are hospitalized or critically ill, or need assistance.
659	H. Th	ne Public Relations and Marketing Director shall:
660 661 662 663	1.	Chair the Public Relations and Marketing Committee, and appoint an Assistant Director to fill the position in the absence of the Director.
663 664 665 666	2	Promote Judaism and Jewish interaction in the community and maintain a focal point of Jewish identity to the County,
667 668 669	3.	Oversee TBD marketing efforts, including print, regular mail, electronic mailing, electronic marketing digital marketing and social media.
670 671 672 673 674	4.	Appoint the chair of the Library subcommittee, which shall be responsible for all books and materials in the TBD library, maintain the collection, develop a system of lending, return books and other materials. Increase the books and other material inventory, and publicize the Library in the TBD newsletter.
674 675 676 677 678 679	5.	Appoint and oversee the following subcommittee: Historian Committee, which shall be responsible for maintaining a permanent record of TBD activities, collecting and maintaining historical documents, pictures, yearbooks and similar memorabilia.
680 681	6.	Appoint an editor for the Chailights and oversee the production of TBD's newsletter.

682			
683	I.	Th	e Strategic Planning Director shall:
684			
685		1.	Appoint and chair a Strategic Planning Committee, and appoint an Assistant Director
686			to fill the position in the absence of the Director.
687			
688		2.	With the assistance of the Strategic Planning Committee, clarify and review the
689			Congregation's vision, mission and goals, annually.
690			,
691		3.	With the assistance of the Strategic Planning Committee, devise, recommend and
692		-	review annually plans for the Congregation to better provide its desired services
693			and activities,
694			
695		4.	With the assistance of the Strategic Planning Committee, devise and recommend
696			plans for programs and services the Congregation will be called upon to provide in
697			the future.
698			
699		5.	With the assistance of the Strategic Planning Committee, Review the Strategic Plan
700			annual, suggest changes and make revisions if required on a yearly basis if needed,
701			which will be presented to the congregation, and Board of Directors for approval.
702			
703		6.	Create and oversee a grants Sub Committee.
704			5
705	J.	Th	e Cultural Arts Director shall:
706			
707		1.	Appoint and chair the Cultural Arts Committee, and appoint an Assistant Director to fill
708			the position in the absence of the Director.
709			
710		2	With the help of the Cultural Arts Committee, look for opportunities to present cultural
711			arts activities.
712			
713		3.	
714			21, 2018; specifically, to advance cultural arts, and raise funds for TBD.
715			
716			
717	ARTI	CLE	E XII - <u>THE RABBI</u>
718			
719	A.		rabbi ordained by a recognized institute of Jewish theological study shall occupy the
720		pu	Ipit of this congregation.
721	_		
722	В.		no rabbi is available for services, a qualified lay person may occupy the pulpit. The
723		Ri	tual Committee shall be responsible for all religious services of TBD.
724	~		
725	C		the event of a vacancy on the pulpit or non-renewal of the current rabbi's
726			ntract, the Board of Directors shall immediately ask the Ritual Director to form a
727		Se	earch Committee in accordance with Article XI Section H, to recommend the

selection of a rabbi.

728 729 730

731

732 733

734

735

736 737 738

739

740 741

742

743

744

745 746 747

748 749

750 751

752

753 754

755 756 757

758

759 760

- 1. The candidate rabbi shall be nominated to the Board of Directors by the Ritual Director at the conclusion of the investigation by the Rabbinic Search Committee.
- 2. Upon the approval of the Board of Directors, the recommended rabbi and negotiated contract shall be presented to the congregation at a regular or special meeting. The congregation shall be made aware of the findings of the Rabbinic Search Committee prior to the vote.
- 3. A two-thirds majority of the votes cast by the eligible congregation members voting shall be required to act upon the recommendations.
- 4. The Board of Directors may retain the rabbi currently occupying the pulpit under a newly negotiated contract until the new rabbi begins. The congregation, at a regular or special meeting, must approve this contract by a two-thirds majority vote cast by the eligible congregation members voting. (See Article II, for a description of a member in good standing).
- D. The Rabbi shall:
 - 1. Have the overall responsibility of implementing the religious goals and objectives of TBD. Be responsible for non-Religious School educational events.
 - 2. Enjoy the freedom of the pulpit. At the same time, the rabbi shall seek the advice and direction of the Ritual Committee and/or the Board of Directors; and consider the views of the congregation for the most effective way of discharging Rabbinic duties.
 - 3. Be an ex-officio member of the Ritual and Educational Committees.
 - a. Consult with the Education Director, Religious School Principal and the faculty regarding the Religious School and Adult Education programs.
- E. A rabbi or any other religious functionary of TBD may be removed before the
 expiration of an existing contract for willful violation of the Constitution and By-Laws
 or conduct prejudicial to the best interests of the congregation. Charges shall be
 made in writing, signed by five members of the congregation and shall be presented
 to the Board of Directors.
- 1. Immediately after receiving the charges, the Board of Directors shall appoint a Committee of five members consisting of the President or co-Presidents, First Vice President and three members of the Congregation not having been on the Rabbinic Search Committee to hear the charges. If the Committee feels the charges have merit, the Board of Directors shall mail by regular or electron mail a copy of the charges to the person charged.
- 773

- 2. The Committee shall hear the complaints and permit the person charged, in person or through counsel, to cross-examine and to bring forth testimony. The Committee shall report its findings to the Board of Directors, and if its report states that there is merit to the charges, a special meeting of the congregation shall be called.
 - a. Voting shall be by closed ballot only. A two-thirds majority of the members in good standing present and voting at the meeting shall be required to remove the accused from office.

784 ARTICLE XIII - FUNDS

- A. The General Fund consists of revenue from dues, activities and functions for the purpose of providing funds for the operation of TBD. All pre-approved expenses shall be reimbursed by TBD. Its income is shown as revenue in the operating budget, and any expenses for the production of such revenues will appear in the operating budget
 an expense.

- B. A Restricted Fund, established with a minimum of \$500, is initiated by a letter or oral presentation to the Board of Directors, which will include at the minimum, the proposed name of the fund and its clearly stated purpose. Once established this fund may never be used as revenue for the operating budget and all contributions made to it are not refundable.
 - The Capital Fund is a restricted fund used for long-term building expansion, improvements and replacement of capital equipment. The money comes from building fund assessments, Capital campaigns and voluntary donations to the Capital Fund. This fund is not considered to be revenue for the operating Budget. In case of a financial emergency, as deemed by the Board, the Capital Fund may be used. At the same time a repayment plan must be made. The Congregation must be notified of it within thirty (30) days by all means possible.
 - 2. Temporary Restricted Funds are funds or donations that are temporarily restricted for a specific use or purpose (An example is the Yizkor Fund).
- 809 C. Discretionary Funds
 - 1. General Discretionary Funds are used for specific purposes and carry a descriptive name which indicates its design and intent; i.e. Library Fund, Music Fund, etc. Those individuals responsible for authorizing fund expenditures must stay strictly within the intent of the fund. These funds are never considered to be revenue for the operating budget.
 - 2. The Rabbi's Discretionary Fund may be used for any purpose that the Rabbi feels

- 818 819
- is appropriate as related to TBD.
- D. The Board of Directors shall manage all Funds. In September of each year the Board
 shall review the activity in each FUND and determine its ongoing operation. The
 Board of Director's finding must be reported at the October Congregation meeting.
- E. Any items given to TBD become Temple property and are not returnable.
- 825 826

834

836

838

841

846

849 850

823

827 ARTICLE XIV - <u>AMENDMENTS</u>

- A. Proposed amendments must be presented to the Board of Directors in writing. If approved by the Board of Directors, it shall be read and discussed at the next Congregation meeting. At the following Congregation meeting it must be read again and voted upon. A two- thirds (2/3) vote of the members voting is required for its adoption.
- B. Absentee ballots will be accepted in accordance with ballot procedures.
- C. Each amendment shall carry an effective date.
- D. When an amendment is approved, it shall immediately become part of this Constitution.
- E. Should the Board of Directors reject a proposed amendment; it may be presented for
 membership approval by giving the Recording Secretary a petition signed by fifteen
 (15) members in good standing. It must then be read to the members at the next
 Congregation meeting. At the following meting it must be read again and voted upon.
- F. Every household shall receive a copy of the Constitution and By-Laws when becoming members and shall receive a copy of the amendment when approved.
 - G. At least every five (5) years the Constitution and By-Laws shall be reviewed, revised and/or updated and approved by the Congregation.
- 851 852 853
- H. The Constitution and By-Laws shall be adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the votes cast at a meeting called for that purpose.
- 855 856

854

857

858 ARTICLE XV - DISSOLUTION

- 859
- A. In the event TBD is unable to function or meet its financial obligations, the Board of
 Directors may recommend dissolution. After notifying the entire membership, a two thirds (2/3) majority of the votes cast will be necessary for dissolution.

B. After disposition of all real estate, proceeds of any sales, the Board of Directors shall donate the monies on hand and in bank accounts to non-profit, tax-exempt Jewish charitable organizations. An accounting of the monies that have been donated shall be given to the membership. The tax exemption must comply with Florida statutes and IRS regulations, subject to limitations of existing deeds. NOTE: THE EFFECTIVE DATE OF THIS REVISED CONSTITUTION AND BY-LAWS SHALL BE APRIL 24, 2022. THE CONGREGATION APPROVED THIS DOCUMENT ON APRIL 24, 2022. 6/09/2021; Revised 4/24/2022 Revisions: Constitution